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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
AT GREENEVILLE

KATHY EVON FAWBUSH, )
)

Petitioner, )
V. Nos. 2:17-CV-209; 2:15-CR-107

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

[ S

Respondent. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION

PetitionerKathy Evon Fawbuslhas filed apro semotion to vacate, set aside, or
correct her sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. [Ddc.Tte United States has responded
in opposition tahe motion [doc. 3Jand Petitioner has not repliedhe matter i;ow ripe
for resolution.

The Court finds the materials submitted, together with the record of the underlying
criminal case, conclusively show that Petitioner is not entitled to relief on the claims
asserted. Accordingly, the Court will decide this matter without an evidentiary hearing.
See28 U.S.C. § 2255(b). For the reasons discussed below, thefilddathat Petitioner’'s
motion to vacate is without merit and, thus, will deny and dismiss the motion with

prejudice.

1 All docket references are to Case K. 7-CV-209unless otherwise noted.
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l.
Background

Petitioner and 12 edefendants were charged in addlint superseding indictment.
[Case No. 2:1%2R-107, doc. 40].Petitioner was named &ight of those counts.

In March 2016 Petitioner entered into a plea agreement with the governnidnt
docs. 150-15[1 Sheagreed to plead guilty to Count Two, a conspiracy to distribute and
possess with the intent to distribute 50 grams or moractfal methamphetamine in
violation of sections 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A), and 846 of Title 21, United States Code.

Prior to Petitioner’s change of pleaaring, the United States filed a notice of intent
to seek increased punishment, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 851, due to Petitiowerjsrior
felony drug convictios. [Case N02:15-CR407, doc142]. The plea agreemefsigned
by Petitioner)stated the applicable mandatory minimum senteAde imprisonment—

“[ b]Jecause of the defendant’s prior felony drug convictionkl”, floc. 150, p. 1].

In her plea agreement, Petitioner acknowledged that she conspired to distribute and
possess with the intent to distribute at least 1.5 but less than 4.5 kilograms of actual
methamphetamine during an &@&nth period commenag in April 2014. [d. p. 2]. The
plea agreement further makes clear that Petitioner. dealt in large quantities of
methamphetamine from her home; was a close associate of the lead defendant in the
conspiracy case; and knew that the methamphetaraime fom Mexico. [d., p. 34].
Additiondly, the plea agreemerttontains Petitioner'svaiver of most of her appellate

rights, along with a waiver of the right to file any motions or pleadings pursuant to § 2255



except as to “(i) prosecutorial misconduct not known to the defendant by the time of the
entry of judgment and (ii) ineffective assistance of counsédl., . 12].

On April 21, 2016, the Courtonducted a change of plea hearidg.that hearing,
the Courtconfirmed thaPetitionerunderstood the charge to which she was pleading guilty,
including the mandatorlfetime termof imprisonment required biger prior felony drug
convictiors. The Couralso confirmed Petitioner’s understanding of the waiver of most of
her appellate and § 2255 rights.

The probation office subsequently disclosed its Presentence Investigation Report
(“PSR”) which deemed Petitioner a career offender pursuant to United States Sentencing
Guidelines Manual (“U.S.S.G.”) § 4B1.1 due to two prior controlled substance convictions.
[Case N02:15-CR407, doc210]. Alternatively, the PSR increased Petitioner’s offense
level by two for maintaining a premises for the purpose of distributing a controlled
substance (U.S.S.G. § 2D1.1(b)(12)), and by another two levels because the offense
involved methamphetamine which Petitioner knew had been imported unlawfully
(U.S.S.G. § 2D1.1(b)(5)(A)). Ultimately, those guideline increases were of no import
because Petitioner’s statutorily mandated life sentence exceeded any alternate calculation
of her guideline rangeSeeU.S.S.G. § 5G1.4). In other words, Petitioner’s guideline

range was life.

2 Defense counsel nonetheless objected to the caffeader designation. [Case No. 22CR-107, doc.
223]. That objection was overruledd.| doc. 469].
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The Court held Petitioner's sentencing hearing on August 3, 207imposda
sentence of 210 months’ imprisonmenthat belowguideline (and below mandatory
minimum) sentence was the product of the United States’ five-level motion for downward
departure.

Petitioner did not file a direct appeafl her sentence or convictioninstead, she
submitted this timelypro se§ 2255 motion to vacate dtovember 132017.

.
Standards of Review

To obtain relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255, a petitioner must demonstrate “(1) an error
of constitutional magnitude; (2) a sentence imposed outside the statutory limits; or (3) an
error of fact or lawthat was so fundamental as to render the entire proceeding invalid.”
Short v. United Stated71 F.3d 686, 691 {6Cir. 2006) (quotindViallett v. United States
334 F.3d 491, 4987 @™ Cir. 2003)). To warrant relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 because
of constitutional error, the error must be one of constitutional magnitude which had a
substantial and injurious effect or influence on the proceediBgscht v. Abrahamsgn
507 U.S. 619, 637 (1993) (citation omitted) (8 2254 cakxerson v. United States30
F.3d 537, 54%0 (6" Cir. 2013) (applyingBrechttest to § 2255 motion). A petitioner
“must clear a significantly higher hurdle than would exist on direct appeal” to secure
collateral relief. United States v. Fragdyt56 U.S. 152, 166 (1982Regalado v. United

States 334 F.3d 520, 528 {6Cir. 2003) (citingFrady, 456 U.S. at 166).



“[A] pro se petitioner’s section 2255 motion is entitled to a generous construction.
Fields v. United State963 F.2d 105, 10%6{ Cir. 1992). Nevertheless, when a movant
files a 8 2255 motion, she must set forth facts which entitle her to r@reen v. Wingo
454 F.2d 52, 536" Cir. 1972);O0’'Malley v. United State285 F.2d 733, 735%{ Cir.
1961). A motion that merely states general conclusions of law without substantsting
allegations with facts is without legal meritoum v. Underwogd262 F.2d 866, 867%{

Cir. 1959).

When a 8 2255 movant claims she was denied her Sixth Amendment right to
effective assistance of counsel, a court must presume that counsel provided effective
assistance, and the movant bears the burden of showing othavaisen v. Mitchell320
F.3d 604, 616.7 (6" Cir. 2003). To meet that burdenpetitionermust prove that specific
acts or omissions by her attorney were deficient and that the attorney failed to provide
“reasorably effective assistancewhich is measured by “prevailing professional nafrms
Strickland v. Washingtod66 U.S. 668, 6888 (1984), “[T]he constitutional right at issue
here is ultimately the right to a fair trial, not to perfect representatigmith v. Mitchell,

348 F.3d 177, 2 (6" Cir. 2003) (citingStrickland. A court’s “role on habeas review is
not to nitpick gratuitously counsel’s performan&mith 348 F.3d at 206.

Next, a petitioner must demonstrate “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’'s
unprofessional errorghe result of the proceeding would have been differ&ttitkland
466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermi

confidence in the outcomad., and “requires a substantial, not just conceivable, likelihood



of a different result.”Cullen v. Pinholster563 U.S. 170, 189 (2011) (citation and internal
guotation marks omitted). The prejudice test is modified in the context of a guiky-plea

a petitioner “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors,
he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to tkll."v.
Lockhart 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). Yet, “[a]n error by counsel, even if professionally
unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the
error had no effect on the judgmentStrickland 466 U.S. at 691. Furthermore, if “it is
easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice .
.. that course should be followedd. at 697.

A petitioner alleging ineffective assistance of counsel bétarseavy burden of
proof.” Pough v. United Stateg42 F.3d 959, 9666{ Cir. 2009 (citation omitted)
“SurmountingStricklands high bar is never an easy taskand the strong societal interest
in finality has ‘special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pldaese"v.
United States137 S.Ct. 1958, 19672017) (auioting Padilla v. Kentucky559 U.S. 356,

371 (2010), andUnited States v. Timmreck41 U.S. 780, 784 (1979)).
1.
Discussion

Appended to Petitioner’s form 8§ 2255 motion is a memorandum of law in support.
[Doc. 1]. At times, the memorandum is indeed what it purports tefbets and law in
support of the claims articulated in the form 8 2255 motion. At other points, the

memorandum presents new claims. In deference to PRetitspro sestatus, the Court has



construed Petitioner’s form motion and her memorandum collectively as the § 2255 motion
of record in this case. The Court will now address in turn the claims presented in those
two associated documents.

A. Unconstitutional and Extreme Sentence

“Beyond the ineffective assistance of coundktitionerargues that her 2ifionth
prison sentence is so excessive as to be in violation of the Eighth and Fifth Amendments.
[Memorandum, p. 4, 9-12].

As noted earlierat paragraphL1(b) of the plea agreemerPetitioner waived her
right to file a motion to vacate, except as to claims of ineffective assistanaeaih
prosecutorial misconduct. Itis well recognized that a party may waive a provision intended
for her benefit in a contract or statutéee, e.g., Shutte v. Thomps8@ U.S. 151, 1552
(1872). Even fundamental constitutional rights may be waived, and the waiver is
enforceable if it is made knowingly and voluntarily. “[A] defendant’s informed and
voluntary waiver of the right to collaterally attack a conviction and sentence is
enforceable.” In re Acosta480 F.3d 421, 4226{ Cir. 2007). Therefore, if Petitioner
understood the terms of the plea agreement and made the waiver of her right to file a 8§
2255 motion voluntarily and knowingly, the waiver is valid and enforceable.

Here, there is little doubt that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily entered into the
waiver provision in her plea agreement. Although no transcript of the Court’s change of
pleahearing is in the record, this Court recalls that it verified, in testimony under oath by

Petitioner, that she had read the plea agreement or that the plea agreement had been read



to her,andthat shehaddiscussed the plea agreement with counsel and understood all its
provisionsincluding the appellate and § 2255 waivers. Thus, Petitioner’s claim that her
sentence violates the Eighth and Fifth Amendments is barred by the waiver provision.
Even if that were not the case, the Eigltmendment “forbids onlyextreme
sentences that atgrossly disproportionate’ to the crimie Harmelin v. Michigan 501
U.S. 957, 1001 (1991) (affirming a sentence of life imprisonment for &ifimstoffender
who possessed 672 grams of coca{pgqtions omitted)see alsdJnited States v. Flowal
163 F.3d 956, 963 (6th Cir. 1998) (rejecting Eighth Amendment challenge to a life sentence
mandated by 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(b)(1)(A) for defendant with two prior felony drug
convictions). Petitioner's 218month sentence for her involvement in the distribution of
large quantities of methamphetamine falls far short of the punishnmapbsed in
HarmelinandFlowal.®
For all these reasons, Petitioner's Eighth and Fifth Amendment claims will be

denied.

3 As to the Fifth Amendment, Petioner’s claim is wholly unsupported by factgairdathority and would
be denied for that reasoee, e.g., Loum v. Underwo@®b2 F.2d 866, 867 {6Cir. 1959).
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B. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Petitioner tieher remaining claims to the purportedly ineffective performance of

her attorney.
1.Plea

“A guilty plea is open to attack on the ground that counsel did not provide the
defendant with ‘reasonably competent adviceCuyler v. Sullivan446 U.S. 335, 344
(1980) (quotingMcMann v. Richardsqr397 U.S. 759, 7701 (1970)). As noted, in the
guilty-plea context, the Supreme Court employs the samepanto standard for
ineffectiveness that was developedSinickland SeeHill v. Lockhart 474 U.S. 52, 58
59985). That is, getitionermust demonstrate that (1) her attorney's performance was
outsice the range of competence demanded of attorneys in the criminal context, and (2) the
professionally unreasonable performance prejudiced her.

The instant Petitioner offers several criticisms of her attorney’s performance at the
plea negotiation stage. According to Petitioner, “competent counsel” would have advised
that her “chief goal” was to limit her sentencing exposure, most effectively by way of “a
plea deal (perhaps coupled with cooperation).” [Memorandum, p. 5]. Further, according
to Petitioner, Competent counsel would have realized, had he done adequate research,”
that she was facing a maximum ten years’ imprisonméat. . 7]. Petitioner also argues
that counsel was ineffective in allowing a “fitshe offender” to be sentenced to 210

months imprisonment. [d., p. 4]. Thatis so because, according to Petitioner, “competent

counsel would have relead [sic] and advised Fawbush that her biggest concern needed



to be any 841 counts, because convictiontttese counts mandated a lengthy prison
sentence.” If., p. 5]4

Each of these claims fails &trickland’ssecond step. Petition&tannot satisfy the
prejudice prong in the absence of any statement that [s]he is actually innocent, or would
have gone to trial if [her] attorney's performance had been differéhiritea v. United
States 160 F.3d 1109, 1115Y&Cir. 1998). She makes neither claim. Petitioner does not
allege she is innocent, nor does she claim that she would have decided to proceed to trial
but for counsel’s allegedly deficient performance.

Moreover, ounsel obviously did not fail to advise her of the option of a “dies
(perhaps coupled with cooperation).” Petitioner entered into and benefitted from that very
“deal.” [Case No. 2:18°R-107, docs. 150, 151, 465Further,Petitioner’s claim that she
could only be sentenced to “less than 10 years’ imprisonment” is, again, unsupported and
nonsensical. And her self portrait of a “first time offender” is wholly belied by the five
convictions listed in her PSR.

Petitioner may believthat her counsel was constitutionally ineffective because she
now thinksshe could have secured a better deal if only her attorney Wwetteanegotiator.
However, the law is webettled that dissatisfaction with a plea deal does not rise to a

showing of constitutionally ineffective counsé&ee,e.g., Hunter, 160 F.3dat 1115

4 This final claim (pertaining to 21 U.S.C. § 841) would appeaelate tangentially to Petitionertselief
that “the Government never sentenced her to an offense in violation of any affensé&olation of 21
U.S.C. 8§ 841. Congress has not yet enacted a law that providesehapius, act, plus conduct constituted
the offense of attempt or conspiracyForm Motion, numbered p. 6]. Petitioner’'s theory regarding § 841
is unsupported and nonsensical. It will not be discussed further.
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(“[W]hil e [petitioner] may later have decided that he could have done better, his
dissatisfaction does not rise to a showing of constitutionally ineffective courideltgd
States v. Parker609 F.3d 891, 895/{ Cir. 2010) (“[W]hethera petitioner ‘could have

negotiated a better plea deal is irrelevant in the ineffective assistance context.”) (quoting
Bethel v. United Stated58 F.3d 711, 720 {7Cir. 2006)).

Additionally, acriminal defendant has “no constitutional right to pleagain.”
Weatherford v. Bursey129 U.S. 545, 561 (1977). The government thasefore under
no obligation to offer a more lenient plea.

For all these reasons, Petitioner’s ineffective assistance claims relating to her plea

will be denied.

2. Presentence Report

Petitionets remaining claims of ineffective assistanmertainto her sentencing.
Specifically, Petitioner alleges thagr attorneyailed to raise three meritorious challenges
to the PSR.

First, Petitioner claims that counsel should have objected to her career offender
designation because the predicate convictions were for conduct related to the instant
offense. [Form Motion, numbered p. 5]. Petitioner also faults her attorney for not objecting
to the “two point increase on her level ofa@ite.” [d.]. Lastly, Petitioner claims that her
attorney should have objected to the PSR’s omission of the guideline safety valve, U.S.S.C.

§ 5C1.2. [Memorandum, p. 15-16].
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These claims fail at both steps of thgicklandanalysis. The foundation of ach
claim isPetitioner’s incorrect belief that her guideline range was based on either her career
offender designation or her § 841 offense level calculation. True, the PSR computed what
Petitioner’s guideline range would be as a career offender. Also true, theoRpRted
what Petitioner’s 8§ 841 offense level would be. However, as noted above, and as Petitioner
was advised at paragraph 72 of the PSR, and as Petitioner was advised by the Court at
sentencing, her applicable guideline range was based on none of these things. thestead,
guideline range ofife was due to her statutorily mandated life sentertoeeU.S.S.G. §
5G1.1b) (“Where a statutorily required minimum sentence is greater than the maximum
of the applicable guideline range, the statutorily required minimum sentence shall be the
guideline sentence.”).

Petitioner therefore cannot bear her burden of showing “a reasonable probability
that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errding result of the proceeding would have been
different.” Strickland 466 U.S. at 694. Even if counsel had successfully raised all of
Petitioner's enumerated objections, the guideline range would still have been life.

Additionally, each of Petitioner's armchair quarterback objections lacks merit.
Neither the delivery of Oxycodone in 2008 (PSR 1 42) nor the 2009 extraction of
methamphetamine precursors for “home cooking” (PSR 143) are relevant condect to
2014 and 2015 participation in a conspiracy to distribute imported methamphet&ame.
U.S.S.G. 8§ 1B1.3 (defining relevant conduct). Next, while it is unclear which “two point

increase” Petitioner disputes (imported methamphetamine or maintaining a prengses),
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plea agreement stipulates facts sufficient to support both. [Case NeCR:167, doc.

150, p.2-6]. Lastly, Petitioner did not qualify for safety valve because she had more than
one criminal history point.SeeU.S.S.G. § 5C1.2(a)(1) (2016); 18 U.S.C. § 3553(f)(1)
(2016).

Petitioner therefore cannot show that counsel failed to provide “reasonably effective
assistance”at sentencing. The omissiar futile PSRobjections is notonstitutionally
ineffective performanceSee Hrris v. United State204 F.3d 681, 683 {6Cir. 2000).

V.
Conclusion

For the reasons discussed in this Memorandum Opinion, Petitioner’'s § 2255 motion

to vacate [Doc. 1] will b®ENIED andDISMISSED.
V.
Certificate of Appealability

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2), the Court must determine whether a certificate of
appealabilityshould be granted. A certificate should issue if a petitioner has demonstrated
a “substantial showing of a denial of a constitutional rightl” The district court must
“engage in a reasoned assessment of each claim” to determine whether a castificate
warranted. Murphy v. Ohip 263 F.3d 466467 (68" Cir. 2001). Each issue must be
considered under the standards set forth by the Supreme C8latiknv. McDanigl529

U.S. 473 (2000).d.
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A petitioner whose claims have been rejected on the merits satisfies the
requirements of § 2253(c) by showing that jurists of reason would find the assessment of
the claims debatable or wrongSlack 529 U.S. at 484. Having examined each of
Petitioner’'sclaims under th&lackstandard, the Court finds that reasonable jurists could
not find that the dismissal ¢ioseclaims wasdebatable or wrong. Therefore, the Court
will DENY issuance of a certificate of appealability.

A separate judgment will enter.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.

ENTER:

s/ Leon Jordan
United States District Judge
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